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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
 
The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited 
financial statements of ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND IT’S SUBSIDIARIES for the financial 
period ended 30 June 2020. 

OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS 
 
In the opinion of the Directors, 
 
i) The financial statements are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of 

the Company and of the Group as at 30 June 2020 and the financial performance, changes in 
equity and cash flows of the Company and the Group for the financial period ended on that date; 
and 

 
ii) At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able 

to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY 
 
The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are: 
 

Name Particulars 

  
Ir. CHE MOHAMED HUSSEIN Bin Mohamed  

Shariff (Retired on 9 Nov 2019) Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman 

LAU Eng Foo (Andy) Non-Executive/Non-independent Director 

LIM Kian Gam, Dominic  Independent Non-executive Director 
   DING Poi Bor               Managing Director 

  ONG Yih Ching                     Independent Non-executive Director 
 
ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES 
 
During and at the end of the financial year, the Company was not a party to any arrangement of which 
the object was to enable the Directors to acquire benefits through the acquisition of shares in or 
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than as disclosed in this report. 
 
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES 
 
According to the register of Directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the 
Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50(“the Act”), the following Directors who held office at the end of the 
financial period were interested in the shares of the Company as follows: 
 

 Holdings registered in the 
name of Director  

 
 At 01.07.19 At 30.06.2020 
   

DATO’ LAU Eng Foo (Andy)  14,625,000 22,925,000 
  

DING Poi Bor  14,500,000 39,500,000 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

TO THE MEMBERS OF ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED 
(Incorporated in Singapore) 

(Company Registration Number 201210180E) 

 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements - continued 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
" Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 
" Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 
 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 
" Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                          -Continued 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

TO THE MEMBERS OF ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED 
(Incorporated in Singapore) 

(Company Registration Number 201210180E) 

 

 
Auditors’ responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
 
" Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 
" Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 

or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated audited 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act. 
  
 
 

                                                     

           MGI SINGAPORE PAC 

    Chartered Accountants and                                                                
         Public Accountant of Singapore 

Singapore, 23 September 2020 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 
 

  The Company The Group 
 2020 2019 2020 2019 

$ $ $ $ 

Assets 

Note    

Current Assets      

Inventory 7 - - 694,959 825,400 
Amount due from subsidiaries 8 - 7,665,945 - - 
Other receivables  9 12,755 12,755 938,122 980,688 
Cash and bank balances 10 115,394 193,166 221,866 446,717 

  128,149 7,871,866 1,854,947 2,252,805 
      

Non-Current Assets      
Plant and equipment 12 - - 276,806 315,826 
Exploration and evaluation assets 11 - - 800,723 945,544 
Goodwill 13 - - - - 
Investment in subsidiaries  14 9,593,999 9,593,999 - - 

 
Total non-current assets  9,593,999 9,593,999 1,077,529 1,261,370 
 
TOTAL ASSETS  9,722,148 17,465,865 2,932,476 3,514,175 

      

Equity  

  

  

Share capital(18,827,100-18827100 15 18,630,751 18,630,751 18,630,751 18,630,751 

Accumulated loss  (9,478,084) (1,872,833) (18,354,963) (17,020,567) 

Foreign currency translation reserves  - - 1,788,179 1,803,075 

Non-controlling interest  - - (1,273,143) (939,544) 

 
Total equity  

 
9,152,667 

 
16,757,918 790,824 2,473,715 

Liabilities  

  

  

Current Liabilities      
Other payables 16 569,481 577,590 2,141,652 1,040,460 
Amount due to subsidiary 8 - 130,357 - - 

Total current liabilities   569,481 707,947 2,141,652 1,040,460 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  9,722,148 17,465,865 2,932,476 3,514,175 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
 



 

7 

 

ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 
 
 
 

 

Period from 
1.7.2019 to 
30.6.2020 

Period from 
1.4.2018 to 
30.6.2019 

 Note $ $ 

    

Revenue  17 - - 

Cost of sales  
 

- - 

Gross profit  
 

- - 
 
Other income +64,890 

 
18 20,962,617 571,441 

Selling and distribution expenses 341091+145122  - - 

Administrative expenses  (326,443) (604,239) 

Other operating expenses 233232+10558+64890  (22,304,169) (2,307,571) 

Loss before income tax 19 (1,667,995) (2,340,369) 
 
Income tax expense 

 
21 - - 

Loss for the financial period   (1,667,995) (2,340,369) 

    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
entities  - - 
 
Total comprehensive loss for the financial period  (1,667,995) (2,340,369) 

Attributable to:    

Non-controlling interests  (333,599) (389,707) 

Owners of the Company  (1,334,396) (1,950,662) 

Loss Per Share(cent)    

Basic Loss Per Share  22 (0.012) (0.017) 

Diluted Loss Per Share  22 (0.012) (0.017) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 

2020 

 
 
 

Note 

 
 

Share 
capital 

 
 

Accumulated 
losses 

attributable to 
Owners of the 

Company 

 
 
 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

 
 

 
 
Non-Controll-
ing Interest 

 
 
 

Total equity 
  

$ $  $ $ $ 
        

At 1.06.2019 

 

18,630,751 (17,020,567)  1,803,075 
 

(939,544) 2,473,715 

Loss for the period   - (1,334,396)  - (333,599) (1,667,995) 

Foreign currency 
reserve  - -  (14,896) - (14,896) 

Other comprehensive 
income for the period  - -  - - - 

At 30.06.2020  18,630,751 (18,354,963)  1,788,179 
 

(1,273,143) 790,824 

        

 

2019 

 
 
 

Note 

 
 

Share 
capital 

 
 

Accumulated 
losses 

attributable to 
Owners of the 

Company 

 
 
 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

 
 

 
 
Non-Controll-
ing Interest 

 
 
 

Total equity 
  

$ $  $ $ $ 
        

At 1.04.2018 

 

15,330,450 (15,069,905)  1,883,322 
 

(549,837) 1,594,030 

Loss for the period   - (1,950,662)  - (389,707) (2,340,369) 

Issue of Shares 15 3,300,301 -  - - 3,300,301 

Foreign currency 
reserve  - -  (80,247) - (80,247) 

Other comprehensive 
income for the period  - -  - - - 

At 30.06.2019  18,630,751 (17,020,567)  1,803,075 
 

(939,544) 2,473,715 

        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 

Note 

Period from 
1.07.2018 to 

30.6.2020 

Period from 
1.4.2018 to 
30.6.2019 

  $ $ 

Cash flow from operating activities 
   

Loss before taxation  (1,667,995) (2,340,369) 

Adjustments for:    

Depreciation of plant and equipment (Net) 12 66,093 7,272 

Amortisation expense 11 205,150 263,698 

Exploration and Evaluation licenses written-off  - 249,054 

Mining assets written-off   1,161,287 1,325,993 

Unrealised foreign exchange (loss)  33,334 - 

Waiver of debts-non trade  (20,930,910) (341,797) 

Bad debts written-off   20,930,910 341,790 

Inventory transferred  (30,806) - 

Tax benefits written-off  - 117,786 

Interest income  650 (3,992) 

Foreign currency translation differences  (1,768,480) (943,363) 
Operating cash flow before working capital changes  (1,469,525) (1,323,928) 

Decrease in Inventory  130,441 (282,346) 

Decrease in other receivables  42,566 279,833 

Increase in other payables  1,101,192 (1,283,374) 

Cash generated from/(used in) operations   1,274,199 (1,285,887) 
 
Net cash (used in) operating activities  (195,326) (2,609,815) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Exploration and evaluation expenditure  11 - (184,262) 

Purchase of plant and equipment 12 (29,525) (244,794) 

Deregistration of subsidiary  - 186,000 

Incorporation of subsidiary   - (614,700) 
 
Net cash (used in) investing activities  (29,525) (857,756) 
    
Cash flows from financing activity    

Net proceeds from new issue of shares 15 - 3,300,301 

Net cash flows from financing activity  - 3,300,301 
    
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and bank balances  (224,851) (167,270) 
    
Cash and bank balances at the beginning of the period  446,717 613,987 

    
Cash and bank balances at the end of the period 10 221,866 446,717 

 
 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 

The financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the financial period ended 30 
June 2020 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on the 
date of the Statement by Directors. 
 
Asaplus Resources Limited is the Group’s ultimate parent company. The Company was 
incorporated under the laws of Singapore as a public company limited by shares on 24 April 
2012 and was registered as a foreign company in Australia on 22 June 2012. 

 
The Company was listed on the Australian Securities Exchange on 16 November 2012. The 
registered office of the Company in Singapore is located at 60 Paya Lebar Road, #08-55, 
Paya Lebar Square, Singapore 409051. 

 
The principal activities of the Company are the exploration, mining and marketing of iron ore. 
 
The Company had remained dormant since it was incorporated on 24 April 2012 till the date 
of this report.  
 
The directors authorised these financial statements for issue on the date of this report. 
 

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

 
2.1 a) Basis of Preparation   

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘FRS”) and are prepared on the historical cost basis except as 
disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

 
The financial statements of the Company are measured and presented in the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).  
The financial statements of the Company are presented in Australian Dollars which is the 
functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the financial 
statements. 

 
b) Changes in accounting policies 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except in the current financial year, the Company and the group has adopted all the new 
and revised standards that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2019. The adoption of these standards did not have any effect on the financial 
performance or position of the Company and the group.  
 
c) Standards issued but not yet effective  

  
The Company adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been 
issued. 

 
 

 

Effective date 
(annual periods 

beginning on or 
after) 

 

Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 
and SFRS1- 28: 

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an investor and its 
Associates or Joint Venture 

Date to be    

determined 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 
2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 
  

d) Interpretation and amendments to published standards effective in 2019 
  

On 1 July 2019, the Company has adopted the new or amended SFRS(I) and 
Interpretations of SFRS(I) (“INT SFRS(I)”) that are mandatory for application for the 
financial year. Changes to the Company’s accounting policies have been made as 
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective SFRS(I) and 
INT SFRS(I) . 
 
The adoption of these new or amended SFRS(I)and INT SFRS(I) did not result in 
substantial changes to the Company’s accounting policies and had no material effect 
on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years. 
 
Adoption of SFRS(I) 16 Leases 
 
When the Company is a lessee: 
 
Prior to the adoption of SFRS(I) 16, non-cancellable operating lease payments were 
not recognised as liabilities in the balance sheet. These payments were recognised as 
rental expenses over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
 
The Company’s accounting policy on leases after the adoption of SFRS(I) 16 is as 
disclosed in Note 2.12. 
 
On initial application of SFRS(I) 16, the Company has elected to apply the following 
practical expedients: 
 
i) For all contracts entered into before 1 July 2019 and that were previously 

identified as leases under SFRS(I) 1-17 Lease and SFRS(I) INT 4 
Determining whether an Arrangement contains Leases, the Company has not 
reassessed if such contracts contain leases under SFRS(I) 16; and 
 

ii) On a lease by lease basis, the company has: 
a) Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably 

similar characteristics; 
b) Relied on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous as an 

alternative to performing an impairment review; 
c) Accounted for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 

12 months as at 1 July 2019 as short-term leases; 
d) Excluded initial direct costs in the measurement of the right-of-use 

(“ROU”) asset as the date of initial application; and; 
e) Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains 

options to extend or terminate the lease. 
 
There were no onerous contracts as at 1 July 2019. 

 
For leases previously classified as operating leases on 1 July 2019, the 
Company has applied the following transition provisions: 

 
a) On a lease-by-lease basis, the Company chose to measure its ROU 

assets at a carrying amount as if SFRS(I) 16 had been applied since the 
commencement of the lease, but discounted using the incremental 
borrowing rate at 1 July 2019. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 
2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 
  

 d) Interpretation and amendments to published standards effective in 2019 – cont’d 
    
   Adoption of SFRS(I) 16 Leases – cont’d 
 

b) Recognised its lease liabilities by discounting the remaining lease 
payments as at 1 July 2019 using the incremental borrowing rate for  
each individual lease or, if applicable, the incremental borrowing rate for 
each portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics. 

c) The difference between the carrying amounts of the ROU assets and 
lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 is adjusted directly to opening retained 
profits. Comparative information is not restated. 

 
2.2     Financial assets  
 

The Company and the group assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective 
evidence that a financial asset is impaired. 
 
Financial Assets  
Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the 
Company and the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument. The Company and the group determines the classifications of its financial 
assets at initial recognition. 

 
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in 
the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable 
transaction costs. 

 
All regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. 
the date that the company commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases 
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace 
concerned. 

 
  Subsequent measurement 

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depend on their classification as 
follows: 

 
Loans and receivables  
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, and through the amortisation 
process. 
 
De-recognition 
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from 
the asset has expired. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any 
cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in the profit and loss. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
2.       SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 
 

 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 
 

2.2     Financial assets - continued 
 

Regular way purchase or sale of a financial asset 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised 
on the trade date i.e., the date the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Regular was purchases or sales are purchases of sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace concerned. 

 
2.3 Impairment of financial assets 

The Company and the group assess at each reporting date whether there is any 
objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. 
 
a)Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Company and the group first assesses 
whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Company and the group determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial assets, whether significant or not, 
it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised are not 
included in a collective assessment of impairment. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at 
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a 
loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is 
the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in income 
statement. 
 
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets 
is reduced directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account are written off 
against the carrying value of the financial asset. 
 
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial 
asset has been incurred, the Company and the group considers factors such as the 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or 
significant delay in payments. 
 
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. 
The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
2.      SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 
 

2.3      Impairment of financial assets - continued 
 

 Derecognition of financial assets  
 

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from 
the asset has expired. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any 
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in the profit and loss. 

 
 b)Financial assets carried at cost 

 
If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business 
environment where the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
current market of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not 
reversed in subsequent periods. 
 
Financial liabilities 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Company and the group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Company 
and the group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 
 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial 
liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.  
 
Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 
 
Other financial liabilities 
After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at  
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised 
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation 
process. 
 
De-recognition 
A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
  The Company and the group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 

objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.  
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
2.       SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 
 

2.3    Impairment of financial assets - continued 
   

De-recognition - continued 
a) Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Company and the group first assesses 
whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Company and the group determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial assets, whether significant or not, 
it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
and collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised are not 
included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at 
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a 
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance  account. The impairment loss is recognised in income statement. 

 
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets 
is reduced directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts 
charged to the allowance account are written off against the carrying value of the 
financial asset. 

  
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial 
asset has been incurred, the Company and the group considers factors such as the 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or 
significant delay in payments. 

 
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the  
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount 
of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of 
reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
  b) Financial assets carried at cost 
 

If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business 
environment where the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not 
reversed in subsequent periods.   

 
The Company and the group assess at each reporting date whether there is indication 
that an asset has been impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
2.      SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 
 

2.4    Impairment of non-financial assets - continued 
 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s cash-generating unit’s fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash 
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing the value in use, the estimated 
future cash inflows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less 
costs to see, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such 
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These 
calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly 
traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 
 
The Company and the group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and 
forecast calculations which are prepared separately for the Company’s and the group’s 
cash generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. For longer periods, a 
long-term growth forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five years. For 
longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash 
flows after the fifth year. 
 
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit and loss in those 
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for assets 
that are previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive 
income up to the amount of any previous revaluation. 

 
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether there is control. 
 
In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are carried at cost less any 
impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal group.  
 
Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are accounted for using the cost model with the exception of goodwill.  
 
Capitalised costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives 
for those considered as finite useful lives. After initial recognition, they are carried at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. In addition, 
they are subject to annual impairment testing. Indefinite life intangibles are not amortised 
but are subject to annual impairment testing. 
 
Intangible assets are written off where, in the opinion of the Directors, no further future 
economic benefits are expected to arise. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
2.       SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 
 

2.4    Impairment of non-financial assets - continued 
 

Goodwill 
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is subject to impairment testing. 
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, irrespective of whether there is any 
indication that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment whenever 
there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
For the purpose of assessing impairment, where an asset does not generate cash inflows 
largely independent from those of other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for 
the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflow independently (i.e. a CGU). As a 
result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at CGU 
level. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those CGUs that are expected to benefit from 
synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the 
Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for CGUs, to which goodwill has been allocated, are 
credited initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is 
charged pro rata to the other assets in the CGU, except that the carrying value of an 
asset will not be reduced below the higher of its individual fair value less cost to sell, or 
value-in-use, if determinable. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and value-in-use. In 
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to its present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time value 
of money and the risk specific to the asset. 

 
An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods whilst an 
impairment loss on other assets is reversed if there has been a favorable change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised. 
 
Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill is not reversed in 
a subsequent period. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets 
Exploration and evaluation assets relate to Exploration Licence in relation to the Mine 
acquired and exploration and evaluation expenditures capitalised in the Mine that is at the 
exploration stage. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  
 
Exploration and evaluation assets comprises costs which are directly attributable to 
acquisition, surveying, geological, geochemical and geophysical, exploratory drilling; land 
maintenance, sampling, and assessing technical feasibility and commercial viability in 
relation to the Beikeng Mine. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 
 

 2.4    Exploration and evaluation assets - continued 
 
The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is reviewed annually and 
adjusted for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” whenever one 
of the following events or changes in facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable (the list is not exhaustive): 
 
(a) the period for which the Group has the right to explore in the specific area has expired 
during the period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be recovered; 

 
(b) substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources 
in the specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; 

 
(c)  exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to 
the discovery of commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has 
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area; or 

 
(d)  sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is 
likely to proceed, the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely 
to be recovered in full from successful development or by sale. 

 
An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement whenever the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is computed utilizing the straight-line method to 
write off the cost of these assets over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

 Years 
Computer 3 
Office equipment  3 
Furniture, fittings and fixtures 5 
Motor vehicles  4 
Electrical equipment and tools 8-10 

 
The cost of plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part 
of the cost of plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or 
restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset. 
 
Subsequent expenditure relating to plant and equipment that have been recognised is 
added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic 
benefits, in excess of the standard of performance of the asset before the expenditure 
was made, will flow to the Group and the cost can be reliably measured. Other 
subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense during the financial period in which 
it is incurred. 
 
For acquisitions and disposals during the financial period, depreciation is provided from 
the month of acquisition tithe month before disposal. Fully depreciated plant and 
equipment are retained in the books of accounts until they are no longer in use. 
 
Depreciation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each 
reporting date as a change in estimates. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 
2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 

 
 2.5     Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 
 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides 
money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. 
They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the 
end of reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Loans and receivables include trade and other receivables. They are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for 
impairment. If there is objective evidence that the asset has been impaired, the financial 
asset is measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 
 
Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the asset’s 
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the asset at the date 
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised. The impairment or write back is recognised in 
the profit or loss. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets include non-derivative financial assets that do not 
qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets. They are included in 
non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 
months of the end of reporting period. 
 
All financial assets within this category are subsequently measured at fair value with 
changes in value recognised in equity, net of any effects arising from income taxes, until 
the financial assets is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the 
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in equity is included in the profit or loss 
for the period. 
 
When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been 
recognised directly in equity and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the 
cumulative loss that had been recognised directly in equity shall be removed from the 
equity and recognised in the profit or loss even though the financial asset has not been 
derecognised. 
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ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 

 
2.5      Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 
 

Available-for-sale financial assets - continued 

The amount of the cumulative loss that is removed from equity and recognised in the 
profit or loss shall be the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal 
repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognised in the profit or loss. 
 
Impairment losses recognised in the profit or loss for equity investments classified as 
available-for-sale are not subsequently reversed through the profit or loss. 
 

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets includes observable data 
that comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events: 
-   significant financial difficulty or probable bankruptcy of the investee; 
-   a breach of contract; 
-   changes in the political or legal environment affecting the investee’s business;  
-  changes in the investee’s condition evidenced by changes in factors such as liquidity, 

credit ratings, profitability, cash flows, debt/equity ratio and level of dividend payments; 
and  

-  whether there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below cost. 
 
Determination of fair value 

The fair values of quoted financial assets are based on current bid prices. If the market for 
a financial asset is not active, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation 
techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s-length transactions, reference to other 
instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option 
pricing models, making maximum use of market inputs. Where fair value of unquoted 
instruments cannot be measured reliably, fair value is determined by the transaction price. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and balances on hand, demand deposits 
with banks and highly liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less which 
are readily convertible to cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. 
 
Share capital and treasury shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issuance of new ordinary shares are deducted against the share capital account. 
 

   Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised to the extend that it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the company and the revenue can be reliably measured regard less of when the 
payment is made. Revenue is measured at fair value of consideration received or 
receivable and represent amounts receivable taking into account contractually, defined 
terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty. 
 
The Company remained dormant during the financial year and till date of the financial 
report.  
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 

 
 2.5      Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 

 
Financial liabilities 
 

Initial recognition and measurement  

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification 
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.  
 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial 
liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.    
 
Subsequent measurement  

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:  
 
i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for 
trading. ˚ Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments 
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge 
relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.  
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the 
financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.   
 
The Group has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition at fair value 
through profit or loss.  
 
ii) Financial liabilities at amortised cost  
 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or 
loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and 
through the amortisation process. 
   
De-recognition 

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Other payables 

Other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at 
amortised costs, using the effective interest method. 
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 

 
2.5     Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 

 
Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Company and the Group have a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
 
The Directors review the provisions annually and where in their opinion, the provision is 
inadequate or excessive, due adjustment is made. 
 
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group are also disclosed 
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 
 

 Contingencies 
A contingent liability is: 
 

(a) A possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be  
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Company and the group ; or 
 

(b) A present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because: 
 

(i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be  
required to settle the obligation; or 

(ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 
 
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. 
 
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the 
Company, except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are 
present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined. 
 
Income tax  
Current income tax  
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates 
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period, in the countries where the Company and the 
group operates and generates taxable income. 
 
Current income taxes are recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent that the tax 
related to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and 
establishes provisions where appropriate. 
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 
 

2.5     Summary of significant accounting policies - Cont’d 
Income tax – continued 
Current income tax - continued 
 
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the 
case of financial assets not act fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable 
transaction costs. 

 
Deferred tax 
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except: 

 
- Where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill 

or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and  

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilities except: 
 

- Where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in the transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and  

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences 
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting 
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of deferred income tax assets to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of the reporting period and 
are recognised to the extent that is has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered.  
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 

 
2.5     Summary of significant accounting policies - Cont’d 

 
Deferred tax – Cont’d 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on the tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each 
reporting period. 
 
Deferred income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised 
outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax 
arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current income tax assets against current income tax 
liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.  
 

   Employee benefits 
 

Defined contribution plan 
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined contribution plans, as 
provided by the laws of the countries in which it has operations. The Singapore 
incorporated companies in the Group contribute to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”). 
Such contribution are charged as an expense as the contributions are paid or become 
payable. 
 
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are required to 
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. 
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to 
the central pension scheme. 
 
These contributions are charged to the profit or loss in the period to which the 
contributions relate. The Group’s obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed 
percentage contributions payable. 
 
Key management personnel 
Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity. Directors and certain general 
managers are considered key management personnel. 
 
Related parties 
For the purpose of these financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the 
Group if: 
(a) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, to 
control the Group or exercise significant influence over the Group in making financial and 
operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the Group; 
(b) the Group and the party are subject to common control; 
(c) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in which the Group is a 
venturer; 
 



 

25 

 

ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 

 
2.5     Summary of significant accounting policies - Cont’d 

 
Related parties - continued 
(d) the party is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s 
parent, or a close family member of such an individual, or is an entity under the control, 
joint control or significant influence of such individuals; 
(e) the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (a) or is an entity under the 
control, joint control or significant influence of such individuals; or 
(f) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of employees of the 
Group or of any entity that is a related party of the Group. 
 
Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity. 

 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the group’s non-financial assets subject to 
impairment are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 
is estimated. 
 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, then the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belong will be 
identified. 
 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, 
some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the 
lowest level within the company at which management controls the related cash flows.  
 
Individual assets or cash-generating units that include goodwill and other intangible 
assets with an indefinite useful life or those not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually. All other individual assets or cash-generating units are 
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assets or cash-generating 
units’ carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value-in-use, based 
on an internal discounted cash flow evaluation. Impairment losses recognised for cash-
generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying 
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets 
in the cash-generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently 
reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer 
exist. 
 
Any impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss unless it reverses a previous 
revaluation in which case it is charged to equity. 
 
With the exception of goodwill, an impairment loss is  
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2.5        Summary of significant accounting policies - Cont’d 

Impairment of non-financial assets - continued 
 
• reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount or when there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised 
for the asset no longer exists or decreases. 
 
• An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 
 
• A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity 
under the heading revaluation surplus. However, to the extent that an impairment loss 
on the same revalued asset was previously recognised as an expense in the profit or 
loss, a reversal of that impairment loss is recognised as income in the profit or loss. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed, even if it relates to 
impairment loss recognised in an interim period that would have been reduced or 
avoided had the impairment assessment been made at a subsequent reporting or end 
of reporting period.  

 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and 
represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course 
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes. 
 
Interest income is recognised on a time-apportioned basis using the effective interest 
rate method. 
 
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(“functional currency”). The financial statements of the Group and the Company are 
presented in Australian Dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Company. 
 
Transactions and balances 

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are 
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions. Currency translation differences from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the closing rates at the end of reporting period are recognised in the 
profit or loss. 
 
Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date when the fair values are determined. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date of the transactions. 
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 

 
2.5     Summary of significant accounting policies - Cont’d 

 Functional currencies - continued 
Transactions and balances - continued 

 
Group entities 
The results and financial position of all the entities within the Group that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows: 
 
(i) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the end of 
reporting period; 
 
(ii) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates; and 
 
(iii)All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the currency translation reserve. 
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at the closing 
rates at the end of reporting period.  

  
 

 Leases 

 

The accounting policy for leases before 1 July 2019 are as follows: 
 
-When the Company is the lessee: 
 
The Company leases land, motor vehicles and certain plant and equipment under 
finance leases and leases land, office space and retail stores under operating leases 
from non-related parties. 
 
Leases where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to the ownership are 
retained by the lessors are classified as operating leases. Payments made under 
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessors) are recognized in 
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
The accounting policy applicable to the Company as a lessee: 
 
At the inception of the contract, the Company assesses if the contract convey the right 
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. Reassessment is only required when the terms and conditions of the 
contract are changed. 
 
-Right of use asset 
 
The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and lease liability at the date which the 
underlying asset is available for use. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost which 
comprises the initial measurement of lease liabilities adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date and lease incentive received. Any initial 
direct costs that would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained are 
added to the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets. 
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 

 
2.5     Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 

Leases – continued 
-Right of use asset - continued 
 
These right-to-use assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method 
from the commencement of the earlier of the end of the useful lift of the right-of-use asset 
or the end of the lease term. 
 
Right-of-use assets (except for those which meets the definition of an investment 
property) are presented within “Property, plant and equipment”. 
 
Right-of-use asset which meets the definition of an investment property is presented 
within :Investment properties” and accounted for as such. 
 
-Lease liabilities 
 
The initial measurement of lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease 
payments discounted using the implicit rate in the lese, if the rate can be readily 
determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company shall sue its 
incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Lease payments include the following: 
 
-Fixed payment (Including in-subsistance fixed payments), less any lease incentives 
receivables; 
-Variable lease payment that are based on an index or rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate as at the commencement date; 
-Amount expected to be payable under residual value guarantees 
-The exercise price of a purchase option if it is reasonably certain to exercise the option; 
and 
-Payment of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company 
exercising that option. 
 
For contracts that contain both lease and non-lease components on the basis of the 
relative stand-alone price of the lease and non-lease component. The Company has 
elected to not separate the lease and non-lease component for property leases and 
account as one single lease component. 
 
Lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective-interest method.  
Lease liability shall be re-measured when: 
 
-There is a change in future lease payments arising from changes in an index  or rate; 
-There is changes in the Compamy’s assessment of whether it will exercise an option; or 
-There are modifications in the scope or the consideration of the lease that was not part of 
the original term. 
 
Lease liability is re-measured with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset, 
or recorded in profit or loss, if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero 
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2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Cont’d 

 
2.5     Summary of significant accounting policies - continued 
 

Leases – continued 
-Short term and low value leases 
 
The Company has elected to not recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
short-term leases that have a lease term of less than 12 months or less and lease of low 
value leases, except for sublease arrangements. Lease payments relating to these leases 
are expensed to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
-Variable lease payments 
 
Variable lease payments that are not based on an index or  a rate are not included as 
part of the measurement and initial recognition of the lease liability. The Company shall 
recognize these lease payments in lease liability. The Company shall  recognize those 
lease payments in income statement in the periods that triggered those lease payments. 

 
  
3.          SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  
 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires the management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.  
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future periods affected. 

 
3.1 Judgments made in applying accounting policies 

There was no material judgement made by management in the process of applying the 
Company accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the financial statements. 

 
3.2 key sources of estimation uncertainty  

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation, 
uncertainty at the statement of financial position, that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below. 
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY  
 

In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, 
management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimates is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affect 
both current and future periods. 

 
Critical judgements in applying the company’s and groups accounting policies 
Management is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements involved that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
within the next financial year, are discussed below. 

 
(i)  Income Taxes 
Significant judgement is required in determining the capital allowances and deductibility of 
certain expenses during the estimation of the provision for income taxes.  There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business.  The company recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.   
 
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made. 

 
(ii) Significant accounting estimates and judgments 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with SFRS requires the use of 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the financial period. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual 
results may differ from those estimates. 
 
(iii)Carrying value of non-current assets 
Non-current assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. These carrying amounts 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use.  
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY – Con’t 
 
(iv)Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
The Group policy on capitalization of all future expenditure relating to exploration and evaluation 
of the Tenement located in Beikeng Mine.  
 
The Group has assessed that the capitalized expenditure will be recoverable through the 
project’s successful development.  
 
(v)Impairment of goodwill 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators exist. This 
requires management to estimate the expected future cash flows of the cash-generating unit to 
which goodwill is allocated and to apply a suitable discount rate in order to determine the 
present value of those cash flows. The future cash flows are most sensitive to budgeted gross 
margins, growth rates estimated and discount rate used. If the expectation is different from the 
estimation, such difference will impact the carrying value of goodwill. 
 
The critical accounting estimates and assumptions used or areas involving a high degree of 
judgment are described below. 

 
 

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS ARRANGEMENT- 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

   
 a) Financial risk management objective and policies 

The Company’s and the group’s activities expose it to credit risks, market risks (including 
foreign currency risks and interest rate risks). The Company’s overall risk management strategy 
seeks to minimise adverse effects from the volatility of financial markets on the Group’s 
financial performance. 

 
The Management is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial 
risk management for the Company. The Company’s and the groups management then 
establishes the detailed policies such as risk identification and measurement, exposure limits, in 
accordance with the objectives and underlying principles set. 
 

There has been no change to the Company’s and the groups exposure to these financial risks 
or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk. 
 
Credit Risks 
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on their obligations to pay the 
amounts owing to the Company and the group, resulting in a loss to the Company and the 
group. The Company and the group seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects on its 
performance by adopting stringent credit policy in extending credit terms to customers and in 
the monitoring its credit risk. 
 
The Company’s and the group’s credit policy states clearly the guidelines on extending credit 
terms to customers. These include assessing and evaluating each customer’s credit worthiness. 
In certain instances, the Company would also request for letters of credits or advance payments 
from its customers in order to mitigate its exposures to credit risk. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any 
allowances for losses, represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS ARRANGEMENT- 

RISK MANAGEMENT - Cont’d 
 

a) Financial risk management objective and policies – Cont’d 
 
Market risks 
The Company and the group is exposed to any market risks. 
 
Liquidity risk 
The Company and the group ensures availability of funds through funding from it’s holding 
company. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Company’s financial 
control maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under sufficient balance of 
cash. 

 
 Foreign currency risk 
 
 The Company and the group is exposed to fluctuations in Australian dollars 
. The management minimises the risk with constant monitoring of these risks. 
 

b) Capital risk management policies and objectives 
 

The Company’s and the group’s objective when managing capital are to safeguard the 
Company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Company and the group’s may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, and sell 
assets to reduce debt, or adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders. 

 
 
6. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

 
Related parties are entities with common direct or indirect shareholders and/or directors. 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party in 
making financial and operating decisions. 

 
a) In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, related party 
transactions between the company and related parties during the financial year were as 
follows: 
 
Compensation of key management personnel  

 
 
Period from 
1.4.2019 to 
30.6.2020 

 
 

 
Period from 
1.4.2018 to 
30.6.2019 

 
 

 
$ 

 
 

 
$ 

 
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  22,852  34,962 

 
There are no other key management personnel other than Directors of the Company and it’s 

 subsidiaries. 
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7. INVENTORIES 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 
The Group   
Mining consumables – Beikeng Mine   
Balance at beginning of the period  825,400 543,055 

- Additions 99,635 282,345 
- Transferred 210,076 - 
- Expensed during the period (433,862) - 
- Currency realignment (6,290) - 

Balance at end of the period 694,959 825,400 

 
 

Inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value 694,959 825,400 

 
 
8. AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES 
 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 
 
The Company 

 
Amount due from subsidiaries  7,665,945 7,665,945 

Less: Allowance for doubtful non-trade receivables during the period (7,665,945) - 

Balance at end of the period - 7,665,945 

 
The amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade in nature, interest-free, unsecured, 
repayable on demand when the Company’s financial position permits and are denominated in 
Australian dollars. 

 
 
9. OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 The Company The Group 
 2020 2019 2020 2019 

 $ $ $ $ 
     
     
Other receivables-third parties  - - 898,048 83,502 
Prepayment – third parties 12,755 12,755 39,501 897,186 
Tax Recoverable - - 573 - 
Deposit - - - - 

 
12,755 12,755 938,122 980,688 
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9. OTHER RECEIVABLES – Cont’d 

 
Other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

 
 The Company The Group 
 2020 2019 2020 2019 

 $ $ $ $ 
    
Australian Dollar 841 841 841 841 
Chinese Renminbi 11,914 11,914 937,281 979,847 

 
12,755 12,755 938,122 980,688 

 
 
 
10. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 
 
 

 The Company The Group 
 2020 2019 2020 2019 

 $ $ $ $ 
     

Cash and cash at bank   115,394 193,166 221,866 446,717 

 
 
Cash and bank balances are denominated as follows: 
 
Australian Dollar 5,956 - 5,956 - 
Singapore Dollar 26,755 99,980 26,755    99,980 
Malaysian Ringgit 82,683  93,186    82,683    93,186 
Chinese Renminbi - -     106,472     253,551 

 115,394 193,166 221,866 446,717 

 
The Chinese Renminbi is not freely convertible into other foreign currencies. Under the PRC’s 
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of 
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign 
currencies through banks that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. 
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11.       EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
 

Exploration and evaluation assets comprise the cost of obtained Exploration Licence in relation 
to the Beikeng Mine and related cost of search for mineral resources, the determination of 
technical feasibility and the assessment of the commercial viability of an identified resource in 
the Beikeng Mine.  

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 
The Group   
Total exploration and evaluation assets   
i)Beikeng MIne 
Balance at beginning of the period  945,544 990,334 

- Foreign exchange differences  (7,224) 34,646 
- Transfers 67,553 - 
- Expenditure incurred in the period - 184,262 
- Amortisation in the period (205,150) (263,698) 

Balance at end of the period 800,723 945,544 

   
ii)Silverstone Mine   
Balance at beginning of period 1,281,397 1,281,397 

- Provision for impairment in value (1,281,397) (1,281,397) 

Balance at end of the period - - 

 
Movements in provision for impairment in value is as follows:- 

-Silverstone Mine   

Balance at beginning and end of financial period 1,281,397 1,281,397 

  
As disclosed in Note 2, the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is 
reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of 
Assets”. In particular, the Company considered whether one of the following events or 
changes in facts and circumstances (each an “Adverse Event”) has occurred which indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable: 
 
(a) the period for which the Group has the right to explore in the Silverstone and Beikeng 

Mine has expired during the period or will expire in the near future, and is not 
expected to be recovered; 

 
(b) substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources 

in the Silverstone and Beikeng Mine is neither budgeted nor planned; 
 
(c) exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the Silverstone and Beikeng 

has not led to the discovery of commercially viable quantities of mineral resources 
and the Group has decided to discontinue such activities in the Silverstone and 
Beikeng Mine; or 

 
(d) sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in the Silverstone and 

Beikeng Mine is likely to proceed, the carrying amount of the exploration and 
evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or by 
sale. 
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12.       PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

The Group 

 

Computer 

Office 

Equipment 

Furniture, 

Fittings and 

fixtures 

Motor 

vehicle 

 
 

Equipment 
and tools 

 
 

Storage 
Room 

Construction 

in progress 

 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

COST:         

As at 31.03.2018 6.392 3,356 63,043 150,632 70,522 - 315,828 609,773 

Additions 1,197 810 2,339 17,960 96,960 123,528 - 242,794 

Reclassifications - - (52,546) (1,865) (16,951) (6,918) (315,828) (394,108) 

Currency realignment  5 (148) 11 155 106 56 - 185 

As at 30.06.2019 7,594 4,018 12,847 166,882 150,637 116,666 - 458,644 

Additions - 1,240 639 1,857 18,898 6,891 - 29,525

Currency realignment  (62) (38) (108) (1,376) (1,309) (984) - (3,877)

As at 30.06.2020 7,532 5,220 13,378 167,363 168,226 122,573 - 484,292

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION:        

As at 31.03.2018 5,750 3,007 12,596 103,546 9,831 - - 134,733 

Depreciation -Reclassifications - - (2,624) - - - - (2,624) 

Depreciation for the period  413 170 407 15,647 - - - 16,637 

Depreciation -overprovided - - - - (6,738) - - (6,738) 

Currency realignment  6 2 9 790 6 - - 813 

As at 30.06.2019 6,169 3,179 10,388 119,983 3,099 - - 142,821 

Depreciation for the period  506 766 523 18,280 33,221 12,797 - 66,093 

Currency realignment  (53) (29) (87) (1,055) (154) (50) - (1,428) 

As at 30.06.2020 6,622 3,916 10,824 137,208 36,166 12,747 - 207,486 

CARRYING VALUE:     

As at 30.06.2019 1,425 839 2,459 46,899 147,538 116,666 - 315,826 

As at 31.03.2020 910 1,303 2,554 30,155 132,060 109,826 - 276,806 
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13. GOODWILL  
 

 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 

Goodwill  9,988,661 9,988,661 

Less: Impairment in value  (9,988,661) (9,988,661) 

 - - 

 
 

Movements in provision for impairment are as follows:- 

 
 2020 2019 

 $ $ 

Impairment in value - Balance at beginning and end of financial 

period 9,988,661 9,988,661 

 

 

The goodwill comprises the value of Exploration Licence to the Silverstone Project held by 

Datian Silverstone Mining Co., Ltd, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary within the Yong Heng 

Group.  
 

As disclosed in Note 2 above, goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, irrespective 
of whether there is any indication that they are impaired. 

 
 
 
14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 
 
 

The Company 2020 2019 

 $ $ 
   
Unquoted equity investments, at cost 10,001,719 10,001,719 
Less: Impairment in value    (407,720) (407,720) 
 9,593,999 9,593,999 

 
 

Provision for impairment in value are as follows:- 

 
 2020 2019 

 $ $ 

Impairment in value -Balance at beginning and end of period (407,720) (407,720) 
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14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES - Continued 
 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Asaplus Resources 
Limited and its subsidiaries listed in the following table. 
 

Name of subsidiary 

Principal 

activities 

Country of 

incorporat-

ion and 

business 

Effective equity held 

by the Group 

Cost of investment by the 

Company 

   2020 2019 2020 2019 

   % % $ $ 

Held by the Company      

Yong Heng Investment Limited 

(“Yong Heng”)  

Investment 

holding Hong Kong  100 100 - 10,000,291 

Asaplus Ventures Limited 

(“Ventures”)  

Consulting 

services Hong Kong  100 100 1,428 1,428 

Yinzhou Consulting Co., Ltd 

(“ Yinzhou”) 

Consulting 

services China 100 100 10,000,291 - 

Held by Yin Zhou      

Hua Sheng Mining Co. Ltd (“Hua 

Sheng”) - formerly known as 

Datian Huixiang Investments 

Consulting Co., Ltd (“DHIC”) (2)  

 

Consulting 

services China 100 100 - - 

Held through Hua Sheng       

Datian Silverstone Mining Co., Ltd 

(“DSM”) 
Exploration, 

mining and 

marketing of 

iron ore China 100 100 - - 

Datian Hua Yu Mining Co. Ltd (3) Exploration, 

mining and 

marketing of 

iron ore China 100 100 - - 

Held by DHIC       

Hong Ji Mining Co., Ltd(a,b) Exploration, 

mining and 

marketing of 

iron ore China 80 80 - - 

     10,001,719 10,001,719 

 

 
During the financial period, the Company reorganised its holdings of its subsidiaries, by transferring its 100% equity 
interest and cost of investment in Yin Zhou from Yong Heng to the Company. Following this internal reorganization during 
the fincial period, the Company directly holds 100% equity interest in Yin Zhou.  
 
During the prior financial period, the Company indirectly held this 100% equity interest in Yin Zhou through Yong Heng, its 
100% owned subsidiary.   
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14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES - Cont’d 

 
The Company's wholly owned subsidiary Datian Hua Yu holds: 

 
-An 80% interest in Hongji Mining Co., Ltd, although it is the registered holder of 90% of its 
share capital. The Group holds the balance 10% interest in Hongji Mining as bare custodian for 
a local partner, and will transfer the aforesaid 10% interest to the local partner at nil 
consideration at any time it is requested to do so by the local partner. 
  
* The subsidiaries of the Company are audited by MGI Singapore PAC. 

 

 
15. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 
The Group/Company 

 
2020 2019 

Issued and fully paid: 
Number of 

shares $ 
Number of 

shares $ 
     

Balance at beginning of financial period 136,000,000 18,630,751 101,000,000 15,330,450 

Issued during the financial period - - 35,000,000 3,300,301 

Balance at end of financial period 136,000,000 18,630,751 136,000,000 18,630,751 

  
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up 
the Company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to 
the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. 
 
At the shareholders’ meetings, each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, 
otherwise each shareholder or its proxy, attorney or representative has one vote on a show of 
hands. 

 
 
16. OTHER PAYABLES  
 

 The Company The Group 
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
 Amount due a director 391,800 391,800 1,388,475 391,800 
Other payables-third parties  90,430 98,539 665,926 561,410 
Accruals  87,251 87,251 87,250 87,250 

 
569,481 577,590 2,141,651 1,040,460 

 
Other payables are non-trade in nature, unsecured and repayable only when the Company’s 
funds permit. Interest on these amounts, if any, will also be determined in the future if the 
Company’s funds permit. 
 
Amount due to a director is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable as and 
when the Company’s financial resources permits. 
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16. OTHER PAYABLES – Cont’d 
 

Other payables are denominated in the following currencies: 
 

 The Company The Group 
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
Australian Dollar - 52,692 - 87,846 
Chinese Renminbi 476,754 457,601 2,048,924 885,317 
Singapore Dollars 92,727 67,297 92,727 67,297 

 
569,481 577,590 2,141,651 1,040,460 

 
 

17. REVENUE 
 

The Company does not have any revenue, as it is not fully operational.  
 
 
18. OTHER INCOME  
 

 The Group 
 Period from 

1.4.2019 to 
30.6.2020 

Period from 
1.4.2018 to 
30.6.2019 

$ $ 

Gain on foreign exchange, net - 163,172 
Interest income 651 3,992 
Sundry income  31,056 62,836 
Waiver of non- trade intergroup debts  20,930,910 341,797 

 20,962,617 571,441 

 
 
19. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX   
 

The Group 
Period from 
1.4.2019 to 
30.6.2020 

Period from 
1.4.2018 to 
30.6.2019 

$ $ 

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging:   
Staff costs (note 20) 168,720 247,677 
Provision for non-trade intergroup doubtful debts  7,665,944 - 
Bad non-trade intergroup debts written-off  13,264,965 - 
Waiver of non-trade intergroup debts  (20,930,909) - 
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20.  STAFF COSTS  
 

The Group 
Period from 
1.4.2019 to 
30.6.2020 

Period from 
1.4.2018 to 
30.6.2019 

$ $ 
   
Employee benefit expense (including key management 
personnel) 

  

- Salaries and bonus 135,176 194,754 
- Other benefits 33,544 52,923 

 168,720 247,677 

 
 
21. INCOME TAX EXPENSE  
 

There is no income tax expense as the company has no revenue. 
 
Provision for enterprise income tax of the subsidiaries operating in the PRC is made in 
accordance with the Income Tax Law of the PRC concerning Foreign Investment Enterprises 
and Foreign Enterprises and various local income tax laws. 
 
Taxation has been provided at the appropriate tax rates prevailing in Singapore and the PRC 
in which the Group operates on the estimated assessable profits, if any for the financial period. 
These rates generally range from approximately 16.50% to 25% for the reporting period.  

 
The reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to the loss before income tax at applicable 
income tax rates to the income tax expense for the reporting period is as follows: 
 

The Group 
Period from 
1.4.2019 to 
30.6.2020 

Period from 
1.4.2018 to 
30.6.2019 

$ $ 
   
 (1,667,995) (2,340,369) 

   
Tax at applicable tax rates (approximate at 20%) (333,599) (468,074) 
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 91,359 179,318 
Tax benefits not recognised 242,240 288,756 

Tax for the financial period  - - 

 

 
At date of the Statement of financial position, the Group has unutilised tax benefits and 
unabsorbed capital allowances of approximately $531,000 (2019: 289,000) to be carried 
forward to set off against production costs of future years. This is subject to agreement by the 
tax authorities and compliance with the relevant tax regulations. No deferred tax asset is 
recognised due to the uncertainty of its recovery. 
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22. LOSS PER SHARE  
 

The Group  
The loss per share is calculated based on the consolidated losses attributable to owners of 
the parent divided by the weighted average number of shares on issue of shares during the 
financial year. 
 
The following table reflects the profit or loss and share data used in the computation of basic 
and diluted loss per share from continuing operations for the financial year ended 31 March. 

 
The Group 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
calculating basic loss per share  136,000,000 136,000,000 

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:   

Share options  - - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
calculating diluted loss per share  136,000,000 136,000,000 

 
Loss figures are calculated as follows: 

The Group 
Period from 
1.4.2019 to 
30.6.2020 

Period from 
1.4.2018 to 
30.6.2019 

$ $ 
   

Loss for the purpose of calculating basic and diluted loss per share  (1,667,995) (2,340,369) 

 
 
23. NET TANGIBLE ASSET BACKING PER SECURITY   

 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 

Net assets 790,824 2,473,715 

Less intangible assets:   

Exploration expenses (Note 11) - (184,262) 

Goodwill  (Note 13) - - 

Net tangible assets  790,824 2,289,453 

Number of issued ordinary shares (Note 15) 136,000,000 136,000,000 

 
Net tangible asset backing  
per ordinary security  0.006 cent 0.016 cent 
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24. DIVIDEND  
 

During the current financial period, no dividend was proposed declared or paid.  
 
 
25.  FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES 

 
The principal closing foreign exchange rates used (expressed on the basis of one unit of 
foreign currency to AUD equivalent) for the translation of foreign currency balances at the 
statement of financial position date are as follows: 

The Group 
2020 2019 

$ $ 
   
Chinese Renminbi 0.2055 0.2071 

 
 
26.  AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
 

The Group 
Period from 
1.4.2019 to 
30.6.2020 

Period from 
1.4.2018 to 
30.6.2019 

$ $ 
   

Audit services  24,000 24,000         
27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

The Group has no other related party transaction with its Directors, key management, or with 
entities which its Directors and/or key management have significant financial interest. 

 
 

28.  SEGMENT REPORTING  

 
The Group identifies its operating segments based on the regular internal financial information 
reported tithe executive Directors for their decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s 
business components and for their review of the performance of those components. The 
business components in the internal financial information reported to the executive Directors 
are determined following the Group’s major products and services. The Group has identified 
the following reportable segments: 
 Mining - exploration and mining of iron ore. Trading and consulting service - trading of copper strips and providing consulting services. 
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28.  SEGMENT REPORTING – Cont’d 

 
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities 

 

Period from 1.7.2019 to 30.6.2020 Mining 

Trading and 
consulting 

service  Others∗∗∗∗ Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
     
Revenue      
From external customers  - - - - 

From other segments  
Segment revenues  

- - - - 

- - - - 

Effect on Segment operations- 
foreign currency translation 
profit/(loss)  - (33,334) - (33,334) 

Segment other operating 
profit/(loss) before tax  6,205,110 (2,810,239) (5,062,866) (1,667,995) 

Segment assets  2,677,100 3,417,503 12,083,301 18,177,904 

Segment liabilities 117,432 1,452,885 571,335 2,141,652 

 

 

Period from 1.4.2018 to 30.6.2019 Mining 

Trading and 
consulting 

service  Others∗∗∗∗ Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
     
Revenue      
From external customers  - - - - 

From other segments  
Segment revenues  

- - - - 

- - - - 

Effect on Segment operations- 
foreign currency translation 
profit/(loss)  163,363 - - 163,363 

Segment other operating (loss) 
before tax  (2,150,085) (9,796) (180,488) (2,340,369) 

Segment assets  3,175,360 13,924,923 20,030,229 37,130,512 

Segment liabilities 6,818,070 9,137,896 3,455,396 19,411,362 

 

 

∗ Others relate to the corporate activities of the Company as well as the other operating 

segments that are not reportable.   

 

 

 

 



 

45 

 

ASAPLUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 

28.  SEGMENT REPORTING – Cont’d 

 
(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities to its 

consolidated financial statement: 
 
 
(Loss) before taxation 
 

 

Period from 
1.4.2019 to 
30.6.2020 

Period from 
1.4.2018 to 
30.6.2019 

 $ $ 
   
Reportable segments loss before taxation (1,667,995) (2,340,369) 
Unallocated income  - - 

 (1,667,995) (2,340,369) 

 
 
 
Assets 
 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 
   
Segment assets 18,177,904 37,130,512 
Elimination of inter-segment assets (15,245,428) (33,616,337) 

Consolidated assets  2,932,476 3,514,175 

 
 
 
Liabilities 
 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 
   
Segment liabilities  2,141,652 19,411,362 
Elimination of inter-segment liabilities - (18,370,902) 

Consolidated liabilities  2,141,652 1,040,460 
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29. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 

The Company leases office premises for sales, marketing and administrative support 
purposes.  

 
Short-term lease has not been capitalised in right of use assets and lease liabilities are as 
follows: 

 
 

 
2020 

 
 

 
2019 

 
 

 
$ 

 
 

 
$ 

 
Balance at beginning of period 

 
51,657 

 
 
 

47,061 
 
Lease expense paid during the period 

 
(15,687) 

 
 
 

(15,687) 
 
Lease expense not capitalised during the period - (short-term) 

 
(17,985) 

 
 
 

(15,687) 
 
Balance at end of period 

 
17,985 

 
 
 

15,687 

 
 
Operating lease payments represents rents payable by the Company for office premises  and 
other operating facilities. Lease is negotiated for a term of 3 years and rentals are fixed for an 
average of 1 to 3 years.  
 
Certain office premise has the option to renew or extend for another one year at market rate 
subject to agreement by both parties for which the related lease payments had not been 
included in lease liabilities as the Company is not reasonably certain to exercise these options 
as it is also subject to final agreement with the lessor. 

 
 
30.  INTERESTS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (KMP)  
 

There have been no interests or loans to KMP, except: 
 Holdings registered in the 

name of KMP  
 

 At 01.07.19 At 30.06.2020 
   

HONG XUSHENG 10,750,000 10,750,000 

 
 
31.  CONTINGENCIES  

 
There are not contingent liabilities as at the date of these financial statements. 
 
 

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  
 

The Company and the Group are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and 
use of financial instruments. The key financial risks included credit risk, liquidity risk, interest 
rate risk, foreign currency risk and market price risk. The Company’s and the Group’s overall 
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 
to minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the Company’s 
and the Group’s financial performance. 
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES – Con’t 

 
Risk management is carried out by the Finance Division under policies approved by the Board 
of Directors. The Finance Division identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-
operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall 
risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative and non-derivative financial 
instruments and investing excess liquidity. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation 
and cause the Group to incur a financial loss. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises 
primarily from cash and cash equivalents and other receivables. For other receivables, the 
Company and the Group adopt the policy of dealing only with high credit quality 
counterparties. 

 
The Company’s and the Group’s objective is to seek continual growth while minimising losses 
incurred due to increased credit risk exposure. 
 
Cash, cash equivalents and term deposits are held with reputable financial institutions. 
 
Credit exposure to an individual counterparty is restricted by credit limits that are approved by 
the management based on ongoing credit evaluation. The counterparty’s payment profile and 
credit exposure are continuously monitored at the entity level by the respective management. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company or the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds 
to meet commitments associated with financial instruments that are settled by delivering cash 
or another financial asset. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset 
quickly at close to its fair value. 
 
The Company’s and the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of 
the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Company and the Group manage liquidity 
risk by monitoring forecast cash flows.  
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the Group’s and the 
Company’s and the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. 
 
The Company’s and the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from fixed 
deposits with average maturity within 3 months. 
 
The Group manages its interest rate risk by continuously monitoring available interest rates 
while maintaining an overriding position of security whereby the majority of term deposits are 
held with reputable financial institutions.  
 
Foreign currency risk  
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign 
currencies. 
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES – Con’t 

 
Foreign currency risk - continued 
The Group is not exposed to any significant foreign currency risk because the Group has not 
commenced trade activity since the date of incorporation. The main operation for the Group is 
exploration activity relating to the Silverstone Project in China which is not exposed any 
significant foreign currency risk. 

 
Market price risk 
Given that the Group does not have any available-for-sale financial assets, the Group is not 
exposed to any significant market price risk.  

 
 
33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are: 
• to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; 
• to support the Group’s stability and growth; 
• to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group’s risk management capability;  

and 
• to provide an adequate return to shareholders. 
 
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal 
capital structure and shareholders’ returns, taking into consideration the future capital 
requirements of the Group and capital efficiency. The Group does not have any borrowings as 
at the financial year end.  
 
The Group currently does not adopt any formal dividend policy. 
 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes 
that this approach, given the relative size of the Group, is reasonable. 

 
 
34. FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION 

 
All financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair 
values as at the reporting date. 

 
 
35. DETAILS OF CONTROLLED ENTITIES OVER WHICH CONTROL HAS BEEN GAINED OR 

LOSS DURING THE PERIOD  

 
 There were no entities which control has been gained or loss, except as disclosed in Note 14. 
 
 
36. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

There are no subsequent events as at the date of these financial statements. 
 
 
37.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  

 
There are no contingent liabilities as at the date of these financial statements. 
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38.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE  

 
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2020, except that at the date of the 
report, the COVID-19 outspread and related global response have caused material 
disruptions to business around the world, leading to an economic slowdown. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the business and economy activities. The Company 
and the Group foresees possible impact due to any movement control orders (full or partial 
lockdown) effected in the countries of and any business associates. At the date of these 
financial statements were authorized for issue, the Company and the Group will operate on a 
business as usual basis within applicable regulations and its continuing focus will be on 
growing its business. The Company and the Group is not aware of any circumstances that will 
cause significant disruption to the operations. 
 
The Company and the Group has determined that these events are non-adjusting subsequent 
events. Accordingly, the financial position and financial performance for the period ended 30 
June 2020 have not been adjusted to reflect their impact. 
 
The duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemics as well as the effectiveness of 
government and central bank responses, remain unclear at the date of these financial 
statements were authorized for issue. It is not possible to reliably estimate the duration and 
severity of these consequences, as well as their impact on the financial position and financial 
performance of the Company and the consolidated entity's state of affairs of the Group for 
future periods. The Company and the Group are monitoring the situation closely and to 
mitigate the financial impact. 

 
 
39. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 

During the prior financial period, the Company and the Group’s financial year end was 
changed from 31 March to 30 June 2019, comparatives are for the 15 month period from 1 
April 2018 to 30 June 2019. 

 
 

40.   PLANNED CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 

Not being commitments for capital expenditure, the Group budgets to make the following 
capital expenditures, with such modifications as it considers necessary, in the financial 
reporting year ending 30 June 2020: 
 

Proposed use of funds 
 

Amount in RMB 
Approximate 

equivalent in A$ 

Continuing development and construction costs of 
a processing plant to process ore to be extracted 
from the Group’s Beikeng Mine 8,400,000 

 
1,726,000 

Acquisition and development costs for additional 
stockpile area 500,000 

 
100,000 

 8,900,000   1,826,000 

  
 
 
 


